69101-5

PM 4: 48

No. 69101-5-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHERYL RENEE LIDEL,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Yu

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D. ARGUMENT7
1. THE EXCLUSION OF DR. ADLER'S TESTIMONY THAT MS. LIDEL SUFFERED FROM DID WHICH RENDERED HER INSANE VIOLATED HER CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE
a. A defendant has the constitutionally protected right to present a defense which encompasses the right to present relevant testimony
b. Dr. Adler's testimony that Ms. Lidel suffered from DID was relevant and should have been admitted because it would have been helpful to the jury in determining whether Ms. Lidel was insane or acting with diminished capacity
c. Dr. Adler's testimony regarding his diagnosis of DID was relevant to the issue of diminished capacity16
d. The court's error in refusing to admit expert testimony that Ms. Lidel suffered from DID was not harmless error
2. THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE PERSISTENT OFFENDER FINDING AS AN "AGGRAVATOR" OR "SENTENCING FACTOR," RATHER THAN AS AN "ELEMENT," DEPRIVED MS. LIDEL OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW

3.	THE JUDICIAL FINDING THAT MS. LIDEL HAD SUFFERED TWO PRIOR QUALIFYING
	CONVICTIONS WHICH RENDERED HER A
	PERSISTENT OFFENDER VIOLATED HER
	RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL AND TO DUE
	PROCESS
E. CONC	CLUSION

-

¢.

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

•

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend. VIpassim
U.S. Const. amend. XIV passim
WASHINGTON CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article I, section 12
Article I, section 22
FEDERAL CASES
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000)22, 28, 29
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124. S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)
Bush v. Gore, 531 U.S. 98, 121 S.Ct. 525, 148 L.Ed.2d 388 (2000) 25
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., 473 U.S. 432, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985)
Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923)
<i>Gilcrist v. Kincheloe</i> , 589 F. Supp. 291 (E.D. Wash. 1984), <i>aff</i> <sup>*</sup> d, 774 F.2d 1173 (9th Cir. 1985)
Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)7, 9
Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 107 S.Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987)
<i>Ring v. Arizona</i> , 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002)

Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 58, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987)
<i>Southern Union Co. v. United States</i> , U.S, 132 S.Ct. 2344, 183 L.Ed.2d 318 (2012)
United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998)
United States v. Whittington, 783 F.2d 1210 (5th Cir., 1986)7
Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)7, 8, 9
WASHINGTON CASES
Allstate Insurance Co. v. Raynor, 143 Wn.2d 469, 21 P.3d 707 (2001)
State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)13, 14
State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 16 P.3d 626 (2001)18
State v. Box, 109 Wn.2d 320, 745 P.2d 23 (1987) 10, 11, 12, 17
State v. Carter, 31 Wn.App. 572, 643 P.2d 916 (1982) 17
State v. Crenshaw, 98 Wn.2d 789, 659 P.2d 488 (1983)11
State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)9
State v. Edmon, 28 Wn.App. 98, 621 P.2d 1310, review denied, 95 Wn.2d 1019 (1981)
State v. Ellis, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998)

State v. Ferrick, 81 Wn.2d 942, 506 P.2d 860, cert. denied, 414 U.S. 1094 (1973), modified in State v. Griffin, 100 Wn.2d 417, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)
State v. Greene, 139 Wn.2d 64, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999)6, 9, 18
State v. Greene, 92 Wn.App. 80, 960 P.2d 980 (1998) 16
State v. James, 47 Wn.App. 605, 736 P.2d 700 (1987) 17, 18
State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 850 P.2d 495 (1993)9, 13, 14
State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)9
State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991) 19
State v. Nuss, 52 Wn.App. 735, 763 P.2d 1249 (1988) 17
State v. Oster, 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002)23
State v. Platt, 143 Wn.2d 242, 19 P.3d 412 (2001)11
State v. Roberts, 80 Wn.App. 342, 908 P.2d 892 (1996)
State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008) 21, 23, 27, 30
State v. Smith, 117 Wn.2d 117, 279, 814 P.2d 652 (1991)25
State v. Smith, 150 Wn.2d 135, 75 P.3d 934 (2003), cert. denied, Smith v. Washington, 124 S.Ct. 1616 (2004)21
State v. Stumpf, 64 Wn.App. 522, 827 P.2d 294 (1992) 17
State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) 19
State v. Thorne, 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 (1994) 25, 26
State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 947 P.2d 708 (1997)16
State v. Wheaton, 121 Wn.2d 347, 850 P.2d 507 (1993) 11, 12

State v. Wheeler, 145 Wn.2d 116, 34 P.2d 799 (2001)21
State v. Wicks, 98 Wn.2d 620, 657 P.2d 781 (1983)11
STATUTES
RCW 10.77.030 10, 11
RCW 9.68.090
RCW 9A.12.010
RCW 9A.20.021
RCW 9A.56.190
RCW 9A.56.21
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (4 <sup>th</sup> ed. rev. 2000)4, 5, 19
The Opinion of the Judges in M'Naghten's Case, 10 Clark & Fin. 200, 8 Eng. Rep. 718 (H.L. 1843)
Washington Sentencing Guidelines Commission, <u>Adult Sentencing</u> <u>Manual 2008</u>
RULES
ER 702 passim
LAW REVIEW
Mark E. Hindley, United States v. Denny-Shaffer and Multiple Personality Disorder: Who Stole the Cookie from the Cookie Jar, 1994 Utah L. Rev. 961 (1994)
Mary Ellen Crego, One Crime, Many Convicted: Dissociative Identity Disorder and the Exclusion of Expert Testimony in State v. Greene, 75 Wash.L.Rev. 911 (2000)

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Ms. Lidel's right to due process and denied her the right to present a defense.

2. The trial court erred in refusing to allow Ms. Lidel to present evidence that she suffered from Dissociative Identity Disorder (DID) rendering her legally insane at the time of the offense.

3. The trial court erred in ruling that the evidence that Ms. Lidel suffered from DID would not assist the jury.

4. The trial court erred in refusing to allow evidence of DID for the purposes of showing Ms. Lidel acted with diminished capacity.

5. The trial court's imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after a judicial finding of prior convictions violated Ms. Lidel's right to equal protection.

6. The trial court's imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after a judicial finding of prior convictions violated Ms. Lidel's rights to a jury trial and due process.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. As a part of the right to present a defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the

defendant has the right to present relevant, admissible evidence on her behalf. Here, the trial court excluded evidence of Ms. Lidel's DID diagnosis which led to her insanity at the time of the offense, despite the fact the evidence was the basis of her entire defense. Did the trial court's exclusion order prevent Ms. Lidel from presenting a defense, thus entitling her to reversal of her convictions?

2. The Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 12 of the Washington Constitution require that similarly situated people be treated the same with regard to the legitimate purpose of the law. With the purpose of punishing more harshly recidivist criminals, the Legislature has enacted statutes authorizing greater penalties for specified offenses based on recidivism. In certain instances, the Legislature has labeled the prior convictions 'elements,' requiring they be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and in other instances has termed them 'aggravators' or 'sentencing factors,' permitting a judge to find the prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence. Where no rational basis exists for treating similarly-situated recidivist criminals differently, and where the effect of the classification is to deny some recidivists the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment protections

of a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt, does the arbitrary classification violate equal protection?

3. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a jury trial and due process of law guarantee an accused person the right to a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of any fact necessary to elevate the punishment for a crime above the otherwise-available statutory maximum. Were Ms. Lidel's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights violated when a judge, not a jury, found by a preponderance of the evidence that she had two prior most serious offenses, elevating her punishment from the otherwise-available statutory maximum to life without the possibility of parole?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 14, 2010, appellant, Cheryl Lidel, entered the Subway sandwich shop on Howell Street in Seattle. 6/7/2012RP 28-34. Ms. Lidel initially ordered a sandwich, but then went around the counter and put the Subway employee, Myrtle Pederson, in a chokehold. 6/7/2012RP 34. Ms. Pederson claimed Ms. Lidel intimated she had a gun, and Ms. Pederson gave Ms. Lidel the money from the cash drawer. 6/7/2012RP 38. Ms. Pederson never saw a gun in Ms. Lidel's possession. 6/7/2012RP 40. Ms. Lidel fled but was arrested a short

distance away. 6/7/2012RP 118-21. It was later determined that \$370 was missing from the cash drawer. 6/7/2012RP 143. \$370 was recovered from Ms. Lidel. 6/7/2012RP 163; 6/11/2012RP 38.

Ms. Lidel was charged with one count of second degree robbery. CP 1. Prior to trial, Ms. Lidel gave notice that she intended to present a defense of insanity and/or diminished capacity. CP 12. In anticipation of presenting this defense, Ms. Lidel was examined by Dr. Richard Adler. Dr. Adler is a licensed psychiatrist, board-certified in Child, Adolescent and Adult Psychiatry, who holds an appointment at the University of Washington School of Medicine in the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences. CP 16. Following his examination of Ms. Lidel, Dr. Adler diagnosed Ms. Lidel as suffering from Dissociative Identity Disorder (DID),<sup>1</sup> and as a result, "it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The DSM-IV-TR defines DID as:

Dissociative Identity Disorder reflects a failure to integrate various aspects of identity, memory, and consciousness. Each personality may be experienced as if it has a distinct personal history, self-image, and identity, including a separate name. Usually, there is a primary identity that carries the individual's given name and is passive, dependent, guilty, and depressed. The alternative identities frequently have different names and characteristics that contrast with the primary identity (e.g., are hostile, controlling, and self-destructive). Particular identities may emerge in specific circumstances and may differ in reported age and gender, vocabulary, general knowledge, or predominant affect. Alternate identities are experienced as taking control in sequence, one at the expense of the other, and may deny knowledge of one another, or appear to be in open conflict.

reasonable to conclude that Ms. Lidel (herself) did not understand the nature of the illegal act and/or failed to understand its wrongfulness at the time." CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 3 at 2. Thus, Dr. Adler concluded Ms. Lidel was insane at the time of the offense. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 5 at 85.

Dr. Adler identified two alternate personalities (alters); "Debbie" and "Odessa."<sup>2</sup> CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 5 at 82. Ms. Lidel did not identify the alternate personalities and Dr. Adler did not know how Ms. Lidel transitioned among the "alters." CP Supp \_\_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 5 at 103-04. Dr. Adler never met either "Debbie" or "Odessa." CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 6 at 51. Dr. Adler did feel that "Odessa" was in control at the time of the robbery but when arrested, Ms. Lidel was in control. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 6 at 40-49. Dr. Adler stated he was not rendering an opinion about what "Odessa" knew or didn't know, or whether the host or alter was in control: that issue was for the trier of

American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 300.14 at 526-27 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. rev. 2000) (DSM-IV-TR).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In an individual with DID, alternate personality states have control over the individual's actions at different times. Mark E. Hindley, *United States v. Denny-Shaffer and Multiple Personality Disorder: Who Stole the Cookie from the Cookie Jar*, 1994 Utah L. Rev. 961, 985 (1994). Generally, a person cannot control which alter personality is in control of the body. Hindley, 1994 Utah L.Rev. at 965.

fact. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 5 at 106; Exhibit 6 at 48-49. Dr. Adler also stated that, although he diagnosed Ms. Lidel as insane at the time of the robbery, diminished capacity could not be excluded. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 179, Exhibit 6 at 117.

Prior to trial, the State moved to exclude the not guilty by reason of insanity defense and the defense of diminished capacity. CP Supp \_\_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 172 at 8-14; 4/2012RP 39. The State argued that there was no method for applying the diagnosis of DID to the legal question of sanity. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No, 172 at 12-13.

Following argument by the parties, the trial court agreed with the State and excluded the insanity and diminished capacity defenses. 6/5/2012RP 2, 25. The court concluded the evidence, primarily the testimony of Dr. Adler, would not be helpful to the jury under ER 702.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* The court assumed that Dr. Adler was qualified and DID was generally accepted in the scientific community, thus finding *Frye*<sup>4</sup> had been met. 6/5/201RP 16-17. Nevertheless, relying on the Supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> ER 702 states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923).

Court's decision in *State v. Green*,<sup>5</sup> the court found the evidence would not help the jury understand culpability. *Id.* at 25.

Following the jury trial, Ms. Lidel was convicted as charged. CP 168. At sentencing, the court found Ms. Lidel had two qualifying prior convictions and found Ms. Lidel to be a persistent offender. CP 255. Accordingly, the court imposed a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. CP 257.

#### D. ARGUMENT

.

- 1. THE EXCLUSION OF DR. ADLER'S TESTIMONY THAT MS. LIDEL SUFFERED FROM DID WHICH RENDERED HER INSANE VIOLATED HER CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE
  - a. A defendant has the constitutionally protected right to

present a defense which encompasses the right to present relevant testimony. It is axiomatic that an accused person has the constitutional right to present a defense. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Greene, 139 Wn.2d 64, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999). The Greene Court refused to allow the expert testimony under ER 702 regarding whether the defendant suffered from DID because the Court ruled it would not have been helpful to the jury as there was no legal standard that had been developed to allow reliable assessment of criminal culpability of defendants with DID. 139 Wn.2d at 78-79. Further, the Court refused to adopt a particular legal standard for use in future cases. *Id.* 

The right to present witnesses in one's defense is a fundamental element of due process of law. *United States v. Whittington*, 783 F.2d 1210, 1218 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir., 1986), *citing Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 17-19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967); *State v. Ellis*, 136 Wn.2d 498, 527, 963 P.2d 843 (1998). This right includes, "at a minimum . . . the right to put before a jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987); *accord Washington*, 388 U.S. at 19 ("The right to offer the testimony of witnesses . . . is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts . . . [The accused] has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.").

Washington defines the right to present witnesses as a right to present material and relevant testimony. Const. Art. I § 22; *State v. Roberts*, 80 Wn.App. 342, 350-51, 908 P.2d 892 (1996) (reversing conviction where defendant was unable to present relevant testimony). The defense bears the burden of proving materiality, relevance, and admissibility. *Id*.

> The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms

the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.

#### Washington, 388 U.S. at 19.

The right to present a defense is abridged by evidence rules that "infring[e] upon a weighty interest of the accused" and are "arbitrary' or 'disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve.'" *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 324-25, *citing United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998), *quoting Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 56, 58, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987).

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