69101-5

90128-7

NO. 69101-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHERYL RENEE LIDEL,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MARY YU

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney ERIN H. BECKER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

1.	PROCEDURAL HISTORY					
	2.	SUBSTANTIVE FACTS4					
C.	ARGU	J <u>MENT</u> 5					
	1.	THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED EXPERT TESTIMONY REGARDING DISSOCIATIVE IDENTITY DISORDER					
	2.	LIDEL'S CHALLENGES TO THE PERSISTENT OFFENDER ACCOUNTABILITY ACT HAVE BEEN REPEATEDLY REJECTED BY THIS COURT					
D.	CONC	LUSION					

14

• `

•

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases

Federal:

. •

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004)
<u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u> , 410 U.S. 284, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)
<u>Greene v. Lambert</u> , 288 F.3d 1081 (9 th Cir. 2002)
Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 135 L. Ed. 2d 361 (1996)16
Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 107 S. Ct. 2704, 97 L. Ed. 2d 37 (1987)
<u>Taylor v. Illinois</u> , 484 U.S. 400, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988)16
<u>United States v. Cronic</u> , 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984)
<u>United States v. Scheffer</u> , 523 U.S. 303, 118 S. Ct. 1261, 140 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1998)
<u>Washington v. Texas</u> , 388 U.S. 14, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967) 15, 16
Washington State:
<u>In re Davis</u> , 152 Wn.2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)

<u>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker</u> , 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)
<u>State v. Aguirre</u> , 168 Wn.2d 350, 229 P.3d 669 (2010)
<u>State v. Ammons</u> , 105 Wn.2d 175, 713 P.2d 719 (1986)
<u>State v. Atsbeha</u> , 142 Wn.2d 904, 16 P.3d 626 (2001)
<u>State v. Byrd</u> , 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)
<u>State v. Crenshaw</u> , 98 Wn.2d 789 (1983) 7
<u>State v. Ellis</u> , 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998)
<u>State v. Ferrick</u> , 81 Wn.2d 942, 506 P.2d 860 (1973)
<u>State v. Finch</u> , 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)17
<u>State v. Greene</u> , 139 Wn.2d 64, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999)
<u>State v. Gresham</u> , 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)
<u>State v. Griffin</u> , 100 Wn.2d 417, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)
<u>State v. Hudlow</u> , 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)
<u>State v. Jones</u> , 82 Wn. App. 871, 920 P.2d 225 (1996)

•

•

<u>State v. Langstead</u> , 155 Wn. App. 448, 228 P.3d 799, <u>rev. denied</u> , 170 Wn.2d 1009 (2010)
<u>State v. Manussier</u> , 129 Wn.2d 652, 921 P.2d 473 (1996)
<u>State v. Nuss</u> , 52 Wn. App. 735, 763 P.2d 1249 (1988)
<u>State v. Ortiz</u> , 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992)6
<u>State v. Rafay</u> , 168 Wn. App. 734, 285 P.3d 83 (2012)
<u>State v. Rehak</u> , 67 Wn. App. 157, 834 P.2d 651 (1992)
<u>State v. Salinas</u> , 169 Wn. App. 210, 279 P.3d 917 (2012), <u>rev. denied</u> , 176 Wn.2d 1002 (2013)
<u>State v. Strizheus</u> , 163 Wn. App. 820, 262 P.3d 100 (2011), <u>rev. denied</u> , 173 Wn. 2d 1030 (2012)15
<u>State v. Stumpf</u> , 64 Wn. App. 522, 827 P.2d 294 (1992)
<u>State v. Thomas</u> , 123 Wn. App. 771, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004)
<u>State v. Thorne</u> , 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 (1996)
<u>State v. Wheaton</u> , 121 Wn.2d 347, 850 P.2d 507 (1993)
State v. White, 60 Wn.2d 551 (1962)7
<u>State v. Wicks</u> , 98 Wn.2d 620 (1983)7

•

State v. Williams, 156 Wn. App. 482,
234 P.3d 1174 (2010), rev. denied,
170 Wn.2d 1011
State v. Willis, 113 Wn. App. 389,
54 P.3d 184 (2002), aff'd in part, rev'd in part,
151 Wn.2d 255, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004) 17, 18
State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271,
286 P.3d 996 (2012), rev. granted,
Wn.2d (May 6, 2013) 20, 21

Statutes

Washington State:

RCW 9.41.040
RCW 9.68A.090
RCW 9.94A.030
RCW 9.94A.570
RCW 9A.12.010
RCW 10.77.030 6, 7
RCW 26.50.110
RCW 46.61.502

Rules and Regulations

Washington State:

ER 702	4.	5.	6.	8.	11.	12.	14.	15.	17.	18
	•••	~,	~,	~,	,		,	,	,	

Other Authorities

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders,	
Fourth Edition, Text Revision	
Persistent Offender Accountability Act	

10

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Expert testimony is admissible if it is relevant and helpful to the jury. Here, Lidel sought to admit evidence that she suffered from Dissociative Identity Disorder in support of her defenses of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity and diminished capacity. Although Lidel's expert witness opined that one of Lidel's personalities was insane, he was unable to explain how a jury should apply that opinion to the legal questions of whether Lidel—a person, not a personality—had the capacity to perceive the nature and quality of her actions, understand right and wrong, or form the requisite intent to steal. Did the trial court act within its discretion in excluding the evidence as unhelpful to the trier of fact?

2. Lidel claims that she was entitled to a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt as to the question of whether she had two prior convictions for most serious offenses, requiring a sentence of life without the possibility of release as a persistent offender. She also argues that a statutory scheme that requires such procedures for proof of prior offenses when they are elements of a crime—as in Felony Communication with Minor for Immoral Purposes or Unlawful Possession of a Firearm—but not when they constitute a sentencing enhancement violates principles of equal protection. These arguments have been repeatedly rejected by this

- 1 -

Court and the Washington Supreme Court. Should these arguments be rejected again here based on controlling authority?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 18, 2010, the State of Washington charged the appellant, Cheryl Lidel, with one count of Robbery in the Second Degree. CP 1. The State requested bail in the amount of \$1,000,000, alleging that the offense constituted Lidel's third strike. CP 2.

Eighteen months later, the defense first gave notice that Lidel would rely on the legal defense of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity. CP 12. In support of this defense, Lidel provided a report by psychiatrist Dr. Richard Adler. CP 84-85, 276-77; PT Ex. 3.¹ He diagnosed Lidel as suffering from Dissociative Identity Disorder ("DID"), formerly known as Multiple Personality Disorder. CP 84-85, 276-77; PT Ex. 3, at 2. He concluded that, as a result of the DID, Lidel was insane at the time of the crime.² CP 276-77; PT Ex. 3, at 2. The State retained its own expert, Dr. Henry Richards; his evaluation, based on ten hours of structured

¹ This brief will refer to pretrial exhibits as "PT Ex.," to distinguish them from trial exhibits, denominated simply "Ex."

² Lidel also produced a report by Dr. Craig Beaver in support of Dr. Adler's diagnoses, although Dr. Beaver did not opine that Lidel suffered from DID or that she was insane at the time of the crime. CP 276-77; PT Ex. 11; PT Ex. 12, at 101-02. Instead, Dr. Beaver provided diagnoses of mild mental retardation, bipolar type II, and heroin dependency, among other things. PT Ex. 11, at 16-20.

interviews with Lidel as well as a review of records, disputed this diagnosis and Adler's conclusion that Lidel was insane at the time of the crime. CP 85; PT Ex. 10, at 51, 59-60.

On the eve of trial, Lidel gave notice of an additional defense of diminished capacity. CP 113. In their reports, Lidel's experts had not opined that she had diminished capacity at the time of the crime. CP 278; PT Exs. 3, 4, and 11; PT Ex. 5, at 86; PT Ex. 12, at 100-01. The defense appeared to rest solely on the diagnosis of DID.³ 4RP 10-13.⁴

On June 4, 2012, the case was assigned to the Honorable Mary Yu for trial. 2RP 1. Pretrial, the State moved to exclude Lidel's mental defenses of insanity and diminished capacity. CP 280-86. After reviewing the relevant reports, PT Ex. 3, 4, transcripts of the extensive pretrial interviews of Adler, PT Ex. 5, 6, and the authorities provided by the parties, 3RP 2, the court granted the State's motion. 3RP 24-26. The trial court determined that the opinion of Dr. Adler that Lidel suffered

³ To the extent a diminished capacity defense could have rested on any diagnosis other than DID, Lidel does not identify it. Further, she has assigned error only to the trial court's exclusion of DID as a basis for a diminished capacity defense, not any other diagnosis. Brief of Appellant at 1.

⁴ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings consists of eight volumes, many covering multiple days. They are referred to in this brief as follows: 1RP is the volume covering April 28, 2010, May 26, 2010, October 27, 2010, November 8, 2010, December 27, 2010, April 8, 2011, and September 7, 2011; 2RP is June 4, 2012; 3RP is June 5, 2012; 4RP is June 6, 2012; 5RP is June 6 and 11, 2012, and July 20, 2012; 6RP is June 7, 2012; 7RP is June 11, 2012; and 8RP is June 11, 2012, and April 19, 2012.

from DID was not helpful to the trier of fact, and excluded it pursuant to ER 702. 3RP 24-26.

The matter proceeded to trial. 5RP 7. In accordance with the trial court's pretrial rulings, neither party offered any expert testimony about Lidel's mental state. 7RP 74. Lidel did not testify. 7RP 74. The jury was not instructed on the theories of either insanity or diminished capacity. CP 174-94.

The jury convicted Lidel as charged. CP 168. Pursuant to the Persistent Offender Accountability Act, RCW 9.94A.570, the State sought a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of early release. CP 195-201. After concluding that the State had met its burden of proving that Lidel had at least two prior most serious offenses pursuant to RCW 9.94A.030(32) and (37), specifically four prior convictions for Robbery in the First Degree with a Deadly Weapon, CP 260, the court found Lidel was a persistent offender and imposed a mandatory life sentence. CP 254-72; 5RP 64-65, 73-75. This appeal followed.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On February 14, 2010, Lidel robbed a Subway sandwich shop at Howell Street and Yale Avenue in Seattle, Washington. She entered the shop while the employee running the business, Myrtle Pederson, was there alone. 6RP 28-29, 34. After scoping out the restaurant to make sure no one else was present, Lidel approached Pederson and acted as if she wanted to order a sandwich. 6RP 34-37. She then entered the employeeonly area, grabbed Pederson in a chokehold, and told her she had a gun. 6RP 34-38. Lidel threatened to shoot Pederson if she did not give her the money. 6RP 58-59. Pederson offered Lidel her tip jar, then gave her the cash from the till. 6RP 38-40, 58-59. After getting the money from Pederson, Lidel told her to put her hands on the register and not move for ten minutes, or people waiting outside would come in and shoot her. 6RP 40-41. Lidel fled. 6RP 41-42. The entire event was captured on clear, in-store surveillance video. Ex. 5, 8.

Moments later, Lidel was arrested; Pederson's boyfriend had seen her leaving the Subway through the employee door, and followed her out of the store while calling 911. Lidel had the stolen cash in her pocket. 6RP 66-84, 117-23, 140-43, 154-63; 7RP 12-23; Exs. 14, 17, 18.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED EXPERT TESTIMONY REGARDING DISSOCIATIVE IDENTITY DISORDER.

a. The DID Diagnosis Was Inadmissible Pursuant To Evidence Rule 702.

Lidel complains that the trial court committed reversible error by excluding proffered evidence that she suffers from Dissociative Identity Disorder. She is incorrect. Lidel's expert was unable to explain how his diagnosis of DID related to his conclusion that Lidel was insane at the time of the crime. Because he did not opine that Lidel had a diminished capacity to form the intent to steal, Adler also did not explain how his DID diagnosis of Lidel might support such a defense. The trial court properly excluded the evidence as unhelpful to the trial of fact under Evidence Rule 702.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is given considerable deference. Thus, the trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Ortiz</u>, 119 Wn.2d 294, 308, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992). In order to reverse a trial court's ruling, the challenging party must show that the decision was manifestly unreasonable, or that discretion was exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

Here, Lidel sought to introduce the testimony of Dr. Richard Adler as relevant to her claimed defenses of insanity and diminished capacity. An insanity defense is governed by RCW 9A.12.010 and 10.77.030. RCW 9A.12.010 provides:

To establish the defense of insanity, it must be shown that: (1) At the time of the commission of the offense, as a result of mental disease or defect, the mind of the actor was affected to such an extent that:

(a) He or she was unable to perceive the nature and quality

- 6 -

of the act with which he or she is charged; or (b) He or she was unable to tell right from wrong with reference to the particular act charged. (2) The defense of insanity must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.

Similarly, RCW 10.77.030 provides:

(1) Evidence of insanity is not admissible unless the defendant, at the time of arraignment or within ten days thereafter or at such later time as the court may for good cause permit, files a written notice of his or her intent to rely on such a defense.

(2) Insanity is a defense which the defendant must establish by a preponderance of the evidence.

(3) No condition of mind proximately induced by the voluntary act of a person charged with a crime shall constitute insanity.

Both statutes place the burden on the defendant to prove insanity at the

time of the crime by a preponderance of the evidence. See also State v.

Wicks, 98 Wn.2d 620, 621-22 (1983).

Insanity means more than mental illness.

The insanity defense is not available to all who are mentally deficient or deranged; legal insanity has a different meaning and a different purpose than the concept of medical insanity. ... A verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity completely absolves a defendant of any criminal responsibility. Therefore, "the defense is available only to those persons who have lost contact with reality so completely that they are beyond any of the influences of the criminal law."

State v. Crenshaw, 98 Wn.2d 789, 793 (1983) (citing State v. White, 60

Wn.2d 551 (1962)).

1305-20 Lidel COA

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